XIl. IRAQ'SLINKSTO TERRORISM
A. Intelligence Products Concerning Iraq's Linksto Terrorism

(U) The Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) produced five primary finished intelligence
products on Irag's links to terrorism:

. a September 2001 paper;
. an October 2001 paper;

. Iraq and al-Qaida: Interpreting a Murky Relationship, June 2002;
- Iragi Support for Terrorism, September 2002 and
. Iraqgi Support for Terrorism, January 2003.

B. September and October 2001 Papers

(U) Shortly after the September 11,2001 terrorist attacks, the Director of Central
Intelligence's (DCI) Counterterrorism Center (CTC) and the CIA Near East and South Asia
office (NESA)*" collaborated on a paper on Iragi links to the September 11th attacks. Thiswas
the CIA’s first attempt to summarize the Iragi regime'stiesto 9/11. The paper was disseminated
to President's Daily Brief (PDB) principas on September 21,2001. The Committee was not
informed about the existence of this paper until June 2004. Accordingto the CIA, the paper took
a“Q&A” approach to theissue of Irag's possible linksto the September 11th attacks.

(U) Soon afterward, the NESA drafted a paper that broadened the scope of the issue by
looking at Irag's overall tiesto terrorism. The Committee requested a copy of this October 2001
document, but representativesof the DCI declined to provideit, stating:

... we are declining to provide a copy of the paper. It was drafted in responseto a
request from a Presidential Daily Brief (PDB) recipient, and the final paper was

"The Near East and South Asia(NESA) isthe CIA Directorate of Intelligence(DI) officeresponsiblefor
anayzingeventsin the Near East, including Irag.
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disseminated only to the PDB readership. Accordingly, it isnot availablefor
further dissemination.*®

C. Iraqand al-Qaida: Interpreting a Murky Relationship, June 2002

(U) Following the publication of the October 2001 paper, the CTC began drafting another
paper that would eventually become Irag and al-Qaida: Interpreting a Murky Relationship. The
paper was drafted based on widely expressed interest on the part of several senior policy makers,
accordingto CIA. Throughout the drafting process (October 2001 to June 2002), the two offices
took different approachesto assessing Irag's linksto terrorismas a result of their different
missions and perspectives. According to the CIA’s Ombudsmanfor Politicization, the CTC was
aggressivein drawing connectionsto try to produce informationthat could be used to support
counterterrorism operations, while the NESA took atraditional analytic approach, confirming
intelligencewith multiple sources and making assessmentsonly based on strongly supported
reporting. Analystsworked on severa draftsover the eight month drafting period, but CTC
management found them unsatisfactory and ultimately produced a draft without NESA’s
coordination.

(U) The Deputy Director for Intelligence(DDI) directed that Iraq and al-Qaida:
Interpreting a Murky Relationship be published on June 21,2002, althoughit did not reflect the
NESA’s views. CTC’s explanation of its approach to this study and the analysts' differing views
were contained in the paper's Scope Note, which stated:

(U) Thisintelligenceassessment respondsto senior policymaker interestin a
comprehensiveassessment of Iragi regime linksto al-Qaida. Our approachis
purposefully aggressivein seeking to draw connections, on the assumption that
any indication of arelationship between these two hostile elements could carry
great dangersto the United States.

3% The President's Daily Brief (PDB) has not been providedto Congressin the past by the executive branch.
Committee staff notes, however, that the National Commission on Terrorist Acts Upon the United States (known as
the 9-11 Commission) reached an agreement with the White Housefor accessto the PDB and other intelligence
items. The declinationto providethe October 2001 CIA paper is an expansion of the historic practiceto include
other documents beyond the PDB. The CIA has provided the Committee itemsincluded in the PDB as long asthey
were al so published separately as finished intelligenceor in other finished products.
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. (U) We reviewed intelligencereporting over the past decade to determine whether Irag
had arelationshipwith al-Qaida and, if so, the dimensionsof the relationship.

() Our knowledge of Iraqi links to al-Qa’ida still contains many critical gaps

(U) Some analysts concur with the assessment that intelligence reporting provides' no
conclusiveevidence of cooperationon specific terrorist operations,” but believethat the available
signs support a conclusion that Irag has had sporadic, wary contacts with a-Qaidasince the mid-
1990s, rather than arelationshipwith al-Qaidathat has developed over time. These analysts
would contend that mistrust and conflictingideologies and goal s probably tempered these
contactsand severely limited the opportunitiesfor cooperation. These analystsdo not rule out
that Baghdad sought and obtained a nonaggression agreement or made limited offersof
cooperation, training, or even safehaven (ultimately uncorroborated or withdrawn) in an effort to
manipulate, penetrate, or otherwisekeep tabs on al-Qaidaor selected operatives.

(U) The NESA believed that this edited Scope Note did not adequately capture the
differencesbetween the two officesover the weighing and interpretation of the supporting
intelligencereports.

(U) The CIA Ombudsman for Politicizationreceived a confidential complaint four days
after the paper was published, on June 25,2002, claiming the CTC paper was misleading, in that
it did not make clear that it was an uncoordinated product that did not reflect the NESA’s views
and assessments. The CIA created the position of Ombudsman for Politicizationin 1992 to
respond to alleged issues of politicizationand anaytic distortion. According to the
Ombudsman'’s Charter, the position servesas an "*independent, informal, and confidential
counselor for those who have complaintsabout politicization, biased reporting, or the lack of
objective andysis.” The Ombudsman reportsdirectly to the DCI. The complaint and subsequent
inquiry is discussed later in thisreport under Pressure on Intelligence Community Analysts.

(U) The Committee Staff interviewed the Deputy Director for Intelligence on the

production of this paper, and asked specifically why the analysts' approach was purposefully
aggressive. She explained that:
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What happened with the " murky paper' was | was asking the people who were
writing it to lean far forward and do a speculative piece. If you were goingto
stretch to the maximum the evidence you had, what could you come up with?

D. Alternate Analysisin the Office of the Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy

(U) Independent of the IC’s reviews of potential Iraqgi links to terrorism, the Department
of Defense Office of the Under Secretary of Defense for Policy (OUSDP), established ateam
called the Policy Counterterrorism Evaluation Group (PCTEG) which was responsiblefor
studying ““. . . the policy implications of relationships among terrorist groups and their sources of
support.”™ Following the September 11th attacks, OUSDP brought on two individualsas
consultants. According to the two consultants, their work included looking at intelligence
information related to all terrorist groups, the links between them, and the roles of state sponsors.

(U) One of these consultants stated that he wastold that the Under Secretary of Defense
for Policy and the Secretary of Defense were dissatisfied with the intelligence productsthey were
receiving from the Intelligence Community on terrorism and linkages between terrorist groups
worldwide. Thisindividual also stated that he and a colleague had goneto the CTC and to the
Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) to review what work they were doing on link analysisand
relationships between terrorist groups and state sponsors. They found that the analysiswas not
being done, and stated that they believed their requests for assistance were being ignored.

(U) When the consultants departed, in December of 2001 and January 2002, two naval
reserveintelligence officers were brought in to replacethem. Thesetwo officers becamethe
Policy Counterterrorism Evaluation Group (PCTEG). The PCTEG reviewed information more
specific to al-Qaida and focused partly on al-Qaida’s tiesto Iraqg, according to one of the PCTEG
memberswho was interviewed by Committee staff. He stated that he believed hiswork with the
Policy Counterterrorrism Evaluation Group was™'to look at the network of al-Qaida, and that
includes state sponsors, that includes front companies, relations with other terrorist groups. In
effect, let's figure out what al-Qaidais. Andthat's what | wasdoing.” He also stated that he was
brought into the Office of the Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy to "'do analysisof terrorist
groups, their linkages" by looking at both raw and finished IC products.

(U) The OUSDP also requested that the DIA Director detail a specific intelligence analyst
to assist in a number of intelligence-related activities. That detail began in January 2002. She
reviewed the CIA assessment Iraq and al-Qaida: Interpreting a Murky Relationship and other
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intelligencereporting. The detailee aso provided assessments of the IC’s analysisto
policymakersin the Office of the Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy.

(U) The Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy stated in his July 2003 briefing to the
Committee, "'In the course of reviewing old stuff [the PCTEG] found some things that looked
very interesting in the year 2002 that apparently didn't register with people or were not given
great prominence either at the time or in the more recent work." The Under Secretary was
referring to the work done by the DIA detailee assigned to the OUSDP’s Policy Support Staff,
not the PCTEG. Documents provided to the Committee by the Under Secretary indicated that
the detail ee found some intelligence reporting that she did not believe had been adequately
incorporated into finished analysis.

(U) During an interview with Committee staff, the DIA detail ee recounted that she had
begun researching the Iragi Intelligence Service (IIS) on her own, and discovered intelligence
reporting from the mid-1990s that had not been incorporated into more recent finished products.
Sheindicated that she had accumulated this material and had passed it, with her own comments,
up the OUSDP chain of command. The detailee aso stated that she had taken the intelligence
she had discovered to the DIA and asked that it be republished or incorporated into finished
products, but that the DIA elements she contacted were not interested in the information.

(U) The detailee also reviewed the CIA’s Iraq and al-Qaida: Interpreting a Murky
Relationship assessment and provided her analysisof the paper. In her analysisof the
assessment, the detailee stated that the CIA provided a great deal of evidence in support of a
relationship between Irag and a-Qaida, but stopped short of providing the bottom line. Her
analysis stated:

The["Murky"] report provides evidence from numerous intelligence sources over
a decade on the interactions between Iraq and al-Qaida. In this regard, the report
isexcellent. Thenin itsinterpretation of thisinformation, CIA attempts to
discredit, dismiss, or downgrade much of this reporting, resulting in inconsistent
conclusionsin many instances. Therefore, the CIA report should be read for
content only — and CIA’s interpretation ought to be ignored.

(U) The DIA detailee’s critique was sent by the Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy to
both the Deputy Secretary of Defense and the Secretary of Defense.
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(U) On Jduly 22,2002, the DIA detailee sent an e-mail to a Deputy Under Secretary for
Policy recounting a meeting that day with a senior advisor to the Under Secretary. The e-mail
reported that the senior advisor had said that the Deputy Secretary had told an assistant that he
wanted him «. . . to preparean intel briefing on Irag and links to al-Qaidafor the SecDef and that
he was not to tell anyone about it." The e-mail also referred to "the Iragi intelligencecell in
OUSD(P).” The Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy later explained to the Committeethat the
term "intelligence cdll™ referred to the PCTEG and other OSD staffersand their study of
intelligencereports.

(V) Incorporatingthe DIA detailee's work and the analysisdone by the two naval reserve
officersassigned to the PCTEG, a special assistant from the Office of the Deputy Secretary of
Defense created a set of briefing slidesin the summer of 2002 that outlined the Office of the
Secretary of Defense (OSD) views of the relationship between Iraq and al-Qaidaand criticized
the Intelligence Community (1C) for its approach to the issue.

(V) The briefing slides contained a™* Summary of Known Iraq — al-QaidaContacts, 1990-
2002," including an item " 2001: PraguellS Chief al-Ani meetswith Mohammed Atta in April."
Another slide was entitled " Fundamental Problems with How Intelligence Community is
Assessing Information.™ It faulted the IC for requiring”juridical evidence' for itsfindings. It
also criticized the IC for " consistent underestimation™ of efforts by Iragq and al-Qaidato hide their
relationship and for an " assumption that secularistsand Islamistswill not cooperate.” A
"findings" slide summed up the Iraq — al-Qaida relationship as'*More than a decade of numerous
contacts,” ""Multiple areas of cooperation,” ** Shared interest and pursuit of WMD," and "*'One
indication of Irag coordination with al-Qaidaspecifically related to 9/11.”

(U) One of the naval reservistsfrom the PCTEG and the Defense I ntelligence Agency
(DIA) detaileeto the Policy Support Staff presented the briefing, which was developed by the
specia assistant from the Office of the Deputy Secretary of Defense, to the Secretary of Defense
in early August 2002.

(V) After the briefing, the Deputy Secretary sent a note to the briefers, the Under
Secretary and the Under Secretary's Special Advisor, which included:

That was an excellent briefing. The Secretary wasvery impressed. He asked us
to think about some possible next stepsto see if we can illuminatethe differences
between usand CIA. Thegod is not to produce a consensus product, but rather to
scrub one another's arguments.

- 309 -

?
o




One possibility would be to present this briefingto senior CIA peoplewith their Middle
East analystspresent. Another possibility would be for the Secretary and the DCI to
agree on setting up asmall group with our people combined with their peopleto work
through those points on which we agree and those points on which we disagree, and then
have a session in which each side might make the case for their assessment.

(U) On August 15,2002, the same OUSDP briefing was presented to the DCI, the Deputy
Directorsfor Intelligenceand Operations, and a number of other CIA officialsand analytic
managers. The Department of Defense del egation included the Under Secretary for Policy, the
two briefers, the DIA Director, the Joint Staff Director for Intelligenceand the Assistant
Secretary of Defensefor Intelligence, among others. The briefingdid not include the slide
criticizing the IC analysisthat was included in the briefing presented to the Secretary of Defense.
Followingthe briefing, the DCI requested that the two OUSDP briefers speak with the CTC and
the NESA expertson Iraq and terrorism.

(U) Inamemorandumto an OUSDP official the following day, one of the PCTEG naval
reserve officerswrote, " Our trip to CIA can be characterized as a successin that after our brief
DCI Tenet agreed to reconsider the relationship of al-Qaidaand Irag.” The reserveofficer added
that the DCI had agreed to postponethe release of a finished product on that subject until the
CIA, DIA and the OUSDP staffers could " attempt to come to some consensus.”  When asked
about hisreactionto the briefing, the DCI stated that he* didn't think much of it" and that he
"didn't see anythingthat broke any new ground for me."

(V) As stated in the naval reserveofficer's note to his superiors, the DCI agreed to

postpone publishing the CIA’s more recent assessment of Irag's linksto terrorism, (Iragi Support
for Terrorism, September 2002), until analystsfrom the CTC, NESA, NSA, and DIA could meet
with the OUSDP briefersto discussthe issue. The analystsand OUSDP staffers met on August
20,2002. Although the analysts considered the attendance of OUSDP staffersat the meetingto
be unusual, all of the meeting attendeesinterviewed by Committee Staff (eight of the twelve
individual s) agreed that the OUSDP stafferswere not given special treatment and their
attendance contributed to a frank exchange of opinions.

(U) In amemorandum submitted by the two OUSDP staffers who attended the meeting,
they stated"We rai sed numerous objectionsto the paper.” One was that the draft **makes no
referenceto the key issue of Atta.” In a subsequent memorandum, the DIA detailee wrote that
the participants' asked me several timesto prepare footnoteson the issues| disagreed with them.
| refused. | said that thiswas not an NIE and | was an employeein Policy, not wearing an

- 310 -




intelligence hat. | could only ask why reporting was not included in finished intelligence
products and to make recommendationsto include it.”

(U) The same OUSDP staffers also presented their briefing to the Deputy National
Security Advisor and the Vice President's Chief of Staff on September 16, two days prior to the
publication of the CIA assessment Iragi Support for Terrorism. This briefing included the slide
which criticized the IC’s approach to the issue that had been in the original presentation to the
Secretary of Defense. In a memorandum to the Deputy Secretary of Defensethe following day,
the Deputy Assistant Secretary reported, "' The briefing went very well and generated further
interest from Mr. Hadley and Mr. Libby," who requested a number of items, including a
"chronology of Atta’s travels.”" The briefing slides presented at this briefing had been updated to
incorporate information that had been included in the draft of Iraqi Support for Terrorism, which
the OUSDP staffers were probably not aware of until they reviewed the draft. The slides
presented additional information on the alleged meeting in Prague between September 11
hijacker Muhammad Atta and the 11S Chief in Prague, potential common procurement
intermediaries shared by Irag and a-Qaida, and other possible connections outlined in the draft
CIA assessment.

(U) Though the Under Secretary of Defense for Policy stated during his July 2003
testimony to the Committee, "'l asked ateam to study the policy implications of relationships
among terrorist groups and their sources of support,” the team members interviewed by
Committee staff each noted that at some point, and often predominantly, their work involved
intelligenceanalysis. In several interviews, OUSDP staffersindicated that they reviewed both
raw and finished intelligence and did undertaketheir own intelligence analysis after looking at 1C
products and discovering that what they needed had not been produced by the IC. It was not
clear, however, whether the formal tasking system had been used to funnel requeststo the
Intelligence Community for analysisthat would suit OUSDP needs.

(U) Moreover, the Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy stated in his briefing to the
Committee that the briefing provided to the Secretary of Defense and later the DCI and White
House staff was developed by the DIA detailee to OUSDP Policy Support Staff. During
interviews with Committee staff, the two individuals who briefed the Secretary of Defense and
later other officials, both stated that the briefing slides were devel oped by a Special Assistant to
the Deputy Secretary of Defense.

(U) The Under Secretary of Defensefor Policy's Policy Counterterrorism Evaluation
Group (PCTEG) and the additional DIA detaileeidentified in this report relied on their own
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independent evaluations of intelligence reports in preparing their materials. Therefore, the
Committee will evaluate the analytic products prepared by the OUSDP staffers on Irag's
potential linksto al-Qaida as part of the second phase of this review to determine whether they
were objective, reasonable, and accurate.
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E. Iragi Supportfor Terrorism, September 2002

(U)Iraqgi Supportfor Terrorism was disseminated to 12 senior officials by the CIA
Directorate of Intelligence onSeptember 19,2002; it was not drafted to respond to a specific
request. CIA officials decided that new intelligence warranted another look at theissue. The
initial drafter of the paper was a senior analyst from the Near East and South Asia Division, who
according to his manager, worked closely with the Irag analystsin the Counter Terrorism
Center's (CTC) Office of Terrorism Analysis. The manager also indicated that the paper was
later handed over to CTC to carry through the publication process and to updateit as it went
through that process. The assessment received only selective distribution to twelve senior
Administration officials* due to the sensitivity of sources and methods identified in the
document. A copy of this document was not provided to Congress until October 2003.

(U) Two weeks after publication of Iraqgi Support for Terrorism, the Intelligence
Community published the October 2002 National Intelligence Estimate on Iraq’s Continuing
Programs for Weapons of Mass Destruction.*® Although the National Intelligence Estimate
(NIE) did not focus explicitly on terrorism, the NIE did include key judgments regarding Saddam
Hussein's potential for employing terrorist attacks, which began with the judgment, ** Baghdad for
now appearsto be drawing aline short of conducting terrorist attacks with conventional or CBW
against the United States fearing that exposure of Iragi involvement would provide Washington a
stronger case for making war.” These judgments were similar to those found in Iragi Support for
Terrorism.

*This assessment was shown to the Secretary of Transportation and was |eft with the Director of the Secret
Service, Secretary of State, National Security Advisor, Deputy National Security Advisor, Under Secretary of
Defensefor Policy, Attorney General, Director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation, Office of the Vice President
Chief of Staff, National Security Council Senior Director for Intelligence Programs, Secretary of the Treasury and
Deputy Secretary of State.

“The NIE was produced at the request of Senator Bob Graham, then-Chairman of the SSCI. The NIE was
written by the National Intelligence Council with the input of 1C analysts.
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F. Iragi Supportfor Terrorism, January 2003

(U) At the request of the Deputy Director of Intelligence (DDI), to broaden dissemination,
the CTC edited referencesto the highly sensitive sources and methods that had necessitated very
limited distribution of the September 2002 version. The CTC aso updated the paper based on
intelligence collected from detai nees between September 2002 and January 2003 and coordinated
this new version withthe NESA. The January 2003 version of Iragi Support for Terrorismwas
provided to Congress and was the final mgjor terrorism analysis produced prior to
commencement of hostilities.

(U) Duetothe high level of consistency among the three major CIA terrorism analyses
that were provided to the Committee, the January 2003 version served asthe basisfor the
Committee's review of prewar intelligence analysison terrorism. Any substantial differences
among the reports, however, are addressed in this report.

G. CIA4 Assessmentson Irag's Linksto Terrorism
(U) InIragi Support for Terrorism, the CIA provided the following summary:

Irag continues to be a safehaven, transit point, or operational node for groupsand
individuals who direct violence against the United States, Israel, and other alies.
Irag has along history of supporting terrorism. During the last four decades, it
has altered its targets to reflect changing priorities and goals. It continuesto
harbor and sustain anumber of smaller anti-Israel terrorist groupsand to actively
encourage violence against Israel. Regarding the Irag—a-Qaida relationship,
reporting from sources of varying reliability points to a number of contacts,
incidents of training, and discussions of Iragi safehaven for Usama bin Ladin and
his organization dating from the early 1990s.

(U) To arrive at this summary, the CIA examined intelligencein four main areas.

Terrorist activities conducted by the Iragi Intelligence Service (IIS);

Iraqgi support for terrorist activities conducted by regional terrorist groups;
Iragi contacts with al-Qaida; and,

potential Iragi use of terrorism in the event of awar with the United States.
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(U) The CIA produced several key assessments based on its examination of the available
intelligence. The Committee reviewed the assessments, any prior assessments on these topics,
and the intelligence reports underlying the assessments. The following sections set forth the
"key" assessments, discuss the underlying intelligence, discuss any variancefrom prior CIA
assessments, and examine the accuracy, objectivity, independence, and reasonabl enessof the
assessmentsfound in Iragi Support for Terrorism, January 2003.

H. Terrorist ActivitiesConducted by the I1S

(U) The CIA assessed that “Saddam IsMost Likely to Usethe IS [Iragi Intelligence
Service] in Any Planned Terrorist Attack.™

@ Oneof the strongest links identified by the CIA betweenthe Iragi regimeand terrorist
activities was the history of I1Sinvolvement in training, planning, and conducting terrorist
operations. Beginning beforethe 1991 Gulf War, intelligence reports and public records
documented that Saddam Hussein used IIS operatives to plan and attemvt terrorist attacks. The
CIA provided 78 reports, from multiple sources, ||l EEEEEEEENEGEGEGEGEGENEEEGEEEEE

documenting instances in which the Iragi regime either trained operativesfor attacks or
dispatched them to carry out attacks. Each of the reports provided by the CIA was accurately
reflected in Iragi Support for Terrorism and the majority of them were summarized as examples
to support the CIA’s assessment.

was reflected in Iragi Support for Terrorismas, . . .Baghdad in late 1990 was training [more
than 1000] Iragisin camps southeast of Baghdad to conduct terrorist attacks on US and other
codlition targets." Inreporting that could be considered as corroborating these accounts, an 11S
operative was killed when a bomb exploded prematurely in Manilanear aU.S. facility. A similar
explosive device was discovered in the U.S. Ambassador’s residencein Jakarta, and two Irag
males that had been observed casing the residence were reportedly in Indonesiawith the

t of tt Iragi embassy.

- 315 -

e ——
—




T

The CIA described

this reporting in Iragi Support for Terrorism as ‘| N r<port that Baghdad sent i
I tcrrorist teams —to Third World countries

wherethe 11S apparently believed that accessto Western targetswould be easier.”™ The CIA also
described each of the reports regarding the attempts in Manilaand Jakarta in detail, || | |
|

Irag continued to participatein terrorist attacks throughout the 1990s. In

late 1992, aforeign government service reported on an Iragi who ||
assassinated an Iragi nuclear-chemical engineer at the behest

of Iragi intelligence. In 1994, another foreign government service reported that || | ||GzGzG
two employees of the Iragi Embassy who had assassinated an Iraqgji dissident || il]. The
Iragi regime continued to target dissidents, and in February 1995 the State Department reported
in aLondon cable on the Iragi's use of thallium to poison oppositionists. These threeitems were
included as examples of 11S violence against Iragi opposition leaders and defectorsabroad in
Iragi Support for Terrorism:

. The killing of Mu'ayyid al-Janabi, arefugee Iragi nuclear scientist seeking
asylumin Amman, Jordan, in 1992.

. The assassination of prominent Iragi dissident Shaykh Talib al-Suhayl in
Lebanonin April 1994.

. In 1995, Iragi agentsin northern Irag used the metallic element thallium to
poison several dissidents, and opposition sources say at least two were
killed.

The CIA aso provided five reports on more recent assassinations in which the Iragi regime was
thought to be responsible, but the evidence was not conclusive.

(l) From 1996 to 2003, the IS focused its terrorist activities on western interests,
particularly against the U.S. and Israel. The CIA summarized nearly 50 intelligence reports as
examples, using language directly from the intelligence reports. Ten intelligence reports,

from multiple sources, indicated [1S* casing™ operations against Radio Free
Europe and Radio Liberty in Prague began in 1998 and continued into early 2003. The CIA
assessed, based on the Prague casings and a variety of other reporting that throughout 2002, the
I1S was becoming increasingly aggressivein planning attacks against U.S. interests. The CIA
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provided eight reports to support this assessment. As hostilities betweenthe U.S. and Iraq
approached in late 2002, reporting indicated increased Iragi preparationsfor attacksin the Middle
East and Europe. An Appendix to Iraqgi Support for Terrorism included 43 incidents, backed up
by 48 intelligence reports, citing suspicious IS activity that resembled terrorism planning,
including repor  of hy the development of

target lists, and the transfer of weapons or materiel that could be used to conduct attacks, For
example, two reports suggested the IIS was targeting U.S. facilities in Turkey.

Separately, a State
Department cable from Baku indicated that Iragis were engaged in similar activitiesthere, trying
to rent properties near the U.S. Embassy.

Each of the previous examples were in both raw intelligence reports, and
summarized in Iraqgi Support for Terrorism. The CIA’s analytic judgments regarding the
likelihood of Irag's use of the I1S to conduct terrorist attacks were a so supported by actual 11S
activitiesduring OPERATION IRAQI FREEDOM. attempted two failed terrorist
attacks, one in Bahrain, and one in ||| . While Iragq experienced mixed resultswith
the 11'S conducting terrorist operations, the regime also supported regional terrorist groups.

I Support for Regional Terrorist Groups
(U) The CIA assessed that:

Irag has along history of supporting terrorism. . . . It continues to harbor and
sustain a number of smaller anti-lsrael terrorist groups and to actively encourage
violence against Isradl.

Baghdad maintains close and overt ties to several secular Palestinian terrorist
groups and with the Irag-based Iranian Mujahedin-e Khalq (MEK).

(@ Theintelligence reporting relied on by the CIA in drafting this assessment in Iragi
Support for Terrorism indicated that the Iragi regime had directly supported several Palestinian
terrorist groups and permitted many of these groupsto operate within Irag. The CIA provided a
total of 53 reports detailing the Iraqgi regime's interaction with Palestinian groups. A primary
example of the regime's support of Palestinian terrorist attacks against | srael
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saying that Iraq paid a total of $10-15 million to the
families of Palestinian suicide bombers.*!
I T1.roughout the 1990s,
open sources a so showed that Saddam Hussein was avocal advocate of martyrdom operations
against Israel. The CIA provided two reportstranslated by the Foreign Broadcast I nformation
Serviceas examples of his statementsin support of the Palestinians, one of which described
speechesin which Saddam urged the Arab nation to rise up against Israel and the U.S,, and
another which included Pal estinian students thanking him for erecting a statue in honor of a
Pal estinian suicide bomber.

@ During the Gulf War, Saddam Hussein enlisted the aid of the Palestinian Liberation
Front (PLF) to attempt terrorist attacks. The PLF, most famousfor the 1985 hijacking of the
Achille Lauro, and after 1990 when the PLF headquarterswas established in Baghdad, relied
wholly on Iraq for financial support and training. The PLF failed to carry out successful
operationsduring the Gulf War in 1991 and drew criticism from Iragi officialsat the time.
Regardless, the leader of the PLF, Abu 'Abbas remained in close contact with the regime.
According to Iragi Supportfor Terrorism:

.
The sensitive reporting, which was from a foreign government service, reported on the arrest of
an individual who attempted to cross from inacar filled with explosives. The

service had identified the individual as a member of the PLF, who had purchased the car from an
Iragi intelligenceofficer.

The CIA assessed
that the PLF could still be used by the Iraqi regime to conduct attacks, because the PLF had relied
wholly on Iraq for financial support and training since 1990. A report stated,

however, that Abu Abbaswould have refused to conduct attacks on behalf of Irag, and

X |

- 318 -

S —




reports,
that PLF members in Iraq were preparing for attacks

against U.S. forcesin the event of war. The analystsassessed that the PLF could be convincedto
conduct attacksagainst U.S. targetson behalf of Irag based on foreign government service
reporting, and the fact that the PLF relied wholly on Irag.

Iraqi Support for Terrorismalso assessed that other Pal estinian groups such as
the Abu Nidal Organization (ANO), the Arab Liberation Front, and the 15 May Organization,
though largely inactive in recent years, could have acted as surrogatesto conduct terrorist attacks
for the Iragi regime. The CIA provided ten reports, from multiple sources, including reports
from foreign government services, substantiatingthe Iragi regime's relationship with the Abu
Nidal Organization. While most of the reports,

provide historical context,

With regard to the Arab Liberation Front (ALF) CIA provided six reportson
ALF-Irag ties. These reportsfrom a foreign government service, indicatethat Saddam provided

approximately $10 million to $15 million to martyrs families, r

Reportsfrom multiple sourcesal so indicated the regime was attempting to build
relationshipswith other Pal estinian and anti-Israel groups, the Popular Front for the Liberation of
Palestine— General Command (PFLP-GC), Hamas, Palestinian Islamic Jihad (P1J), and
Hizballah, but was having only marginal success. The CIA provided four reportsfrom multiple
sources on the PFLP-GC and links to the Iraqi regime.
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The CIA provided seven reports on Irag-Hamasties. One foreign government
service reported that [ragi officialswere meeting with Hamas representatives. The CIA provided
two Foreign Broadcast |nformation Service (FBIS) reports in which Hamas leader Abd-al-Aziz
al-Rantisi called upon Iraq to use “martyrdom” operations against the U.S. —

I (his vas reflected in Jragi Support for Terrorism as “. .

.Hamas will not crossthe'red line' and target U.S. interestsin the event of awar with Irag.”

The CIA provided six reportsto suggest that the PlJ had a similar approach to
Irag, but was further removed than Hamas in that it would not accept support from the I raai

regime because it questioned the regime’s motives. —

The CIA assessed that Hizballah was al so standoffish toward Irag. In
Iragi Supportfor Terrorism, the CIA stated that,

B o« - e overturesseeking
increased cooperationwith Hizballah. Hizballah has rebuffed the Iraqgi

offers [
I . ccorciing to a variety of
reporting.
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The CIA also provided eight reports from multiple sources on the Iragi
regime's relationship with the Irag-based Mujahidin e-Khalg. To support its assessments that:

Irag provides bases, equipment, training, force protection, and probably funding to
the MEK ... Thegroupis by far the most active of Irag's terrorist partners. . .
The MEK maintains basesin east-central Iraq near the Iranian border and
periodically trains with the Iraqi armed forces, according to a variety of reporting .
. . MEK forces perform some internal security functionsfor the Iragi regime. . . .

The CIA provided reports on the MEK s basesin eastern I raq, || ENEEEEEGEGzG

The on MEK cross-border

attacks in Iran, and [ NG
indicated that the MEK had been trained in conventional and terrorist tactics by the Iragi

regime, and [

J. Irag's Relationship with al-Qaida

(U) The CIA assessed that:

Regarding the Irag—al-Qaidarel ationship, reporting from sources of varying
reliability pointsto a number of contacts, incidents of training, and discussions of
Iragi safehaven for Usama bin Ladin and his organization dating fi-om the early
1990s....
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Irag's interaction with al-Qaidais impelled by mutual antipathy toward the United
States and the Saudi roya family and by bin Ladin’s interest in unconventional
weaponsand relocationsites. In contrast to the patron-client pattern between Irag
and its Palestinian surrogates, the rel ationship between Irag and al-Qaidaappears
to more closely resemble that of two independent actorstrying to exploit each
other — their mutual suspicion suborned by a-Qaida’s interest in Iragi assistance,
and Baghdad's interest in al-Qaida's anti-U.S. attacks. . . .

The Intelligence Community has no credibleinformation that Baghdad had
foreknowledgeof the 11 September attacks or any other al-Qaidastrike, but
continuesto pursueall leads.

d Inlragi Supportfor Terrorism, the CIA acknowledged the poor intelligencecollection
on both the Iragi regime and al-Qaidaleadership. Further, with respect to the information that
was available, the CIA specifically noted that the information was from sourcesof "varying
reliability." To addressthisissue, the CIA included agreat deal of sourceinformation describing
the varying degreesof reliability among the supporting intelligencereporting. A CTC analyst
specified that:

It saysthisiswhat we have. In some casesit characterizesthe reporting. Thisis
the quality of it. Thesearethethingswedon't likeabout it. But here's what it
says. Because we wanted to make sure we included everything.

Dueto the limited amount and questionablequality of reporting on the leadership intentions of
Saddam Hussein and Usama bin Ladin, the CIA was unable to make conclusive assessmentsin
Iragi Supportfor Terrorism regarding Irag's relationship with al-Qaida. The CIA stated in the
Scope Note:

Our knowledge of Irag's ties to terrorism is evolving || G

This paper's conclusions-especially regarding the difficult and el usive question of
the exact nature of Irag's relationswith al-Qaida—are based on currently available
information that is at times contradictory and derived from sourceswith varying
degreesof reliability. . . .
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While our understanding of Irag's overall connectionsto a-Qaida has grown
considerably, our appreciation of theselinksisstill emerging.

(U) The CIA relied onintelligence reporting on four additional subjects which they
believed would provide circumstantial insight into that relationship. Therefore, Irag's
relationship with a-Qaidais subcategorized in the five following areas:

. Leadership,

. Contacts,

. Training,

. Safehaven, and

. Operational Cooperation.

K. Leadership Reporting

@ 'niragi Support to Terrorism, the CIA stated that it did not have specific intelligence
reportsthat revealed Saddam Hussein's personal opinion about dealing with al-Qaida. Instead,
anaystslooked at Saddam Hussein's record for dealing with extremists and assessed in Iragi
Supportfor Terrorism that he generally viewed Islamic extremism, including the school of Islam
known as Wahhabism, as a threat to his regime, noting that he had executed extremists from both
the Sunni and Shi'a sects to disrupt their organizations. The CIA provided two specific
HUMINT reportsthat support this assessment, both of which indicated that Saddam Hussein's
regime arrested and in some cases executed Wahhabistsand other |slamic extremists that

opposed him. The CIA aso provided a HUMINT report [ NG

that indicated the regime sought to prevent Iragi youth from joining a-Qaida.

@ Consistent with inadequate intelligence on Saddam Hussein's intentions or views
toward al-Qaida, the CIA had limited intelligence reporting on the al-Qaidaleadership's
decisions regarding a relationship with Iraq. the CIA used

reporting from al-Qai da detai nee debriefings, to judge bin Ladin’s attitude toward a
relationship with Saddam Hussein. The limited reporting available to analystson al-Qaida's
attitude toward cooperating with the Iraqgi regime was contradictory. Some reportsindicated a
desire to seek assistance from Saddam Hussein and others indicated al-Qaidaleaderswere
opposed to any association with the secular Iragi regime. Information

noted an internal struggle within al-Qaida over the wisdom of working with the
Iragis. The CIA explained thisin Iragi Supportfor Terrorism, noting:
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The most important al-Qaida detainees that commented on interaction with Iraa

were . Khalid Shaikh Muhamimad, who was captured
after the January 2003 publication of Iraqgi Supportfor Terrorism, also commented on the
relationship between Iraq and a-Qaida. His comments tracked with other detainees comments,
and they are included here for additional corroboration.

L. Detainee Debriefings — Comments on the Relationship
1. Abu Zubaydah

The CIA provided four reports detailing the debriefings of Abu Zubaydah, a
captured senior coordinator for al-Qaida responsible for training and recruiting. Abu Zubaydah
said that he was not aware of arelationship between Iraq and a-Qaida. He also said, however,
that any relationship would be highly compartmented and went on to name al-Qaida members
who he thought had good contacts with the Iragis. For instance, Abu Zubaydah indicated that he
had heard that an important al-Qaida associate, Abu Mus’ab al-Zaraawi. and others had good

relationships with Iraqi Intelligence. [

. During the debriefings, Abu Zubaydah offered his opinion
that it would be extremely unlikely for bin Ladin to have agreed to ally with Irag, dueto his
desire to keep the organization on track with its mission and maintain its operational
independence. Inlraqi Support for Terrorism, Abu Zubaydah's information is reflected as:

bu Zubay«  opined that it d
have been " extremely unlikely for bin Laden to have agreed to ""dly" with Iraqg,
but he acknowledged it was possible there were al-Qai da—Irag communications or
emissaries to which hewas not privy.
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3. Khalid Shaikh Muhammad

(V) For purposes of comparison, Committee staff requested information from the CIA on
Khaid Shaikh Muhammad's (KSM) comments on an Irag—a-Qaidarelationship. The CIA
provided a one page responseto the staffs request that stated that Khalid Shaikh Muhammad,
the planner of the September 11,2001 terrorist attacks against the United States, also maintained
that he was unaware of any collaborative relationship between a-Qaidaand the former Iragi
regime, citing ideological disagreementsas an impediment to closer ties. In addition, he was
unableto corroborate reportsthat al-Qaida associate Abu Musab al-Zarqawi had traveled to Irag
to obtain medical treatment for injuriessustained in Afghanistan.

(U) The CIA assessed that KSM probably is accurately describing his understanding of
the relationship. Most reporting indicates that KSM did not join al-Qaida until the late 1990s and
did not enter the top echelon of its decision-making leadership until after the September 11,2001
attacks. Prior to September 2001, he was an important operational planner but had alimited role
in the administrationof al-Qaida. He therefore may not have been privy to many activities
pursued by other parts of the group, which could include contactswith Irag.
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M. Contacts Between the Iragi Regime and al-Qaida

Iraqgi Support for Terrorism contained the following summary judgments
regarding Irag's contacts with al-Qaida:

Saddam Husayn and Usama Bin Ladin are far from being natural partners, yet
intelligence reports during the last decade point to various I rag-al-Qaida contacts
through high-level and third-party intermediaries. . . .

We have reporting from reliable clandestine and press sources that |||
direct meetings between senior Iragi representatives and top al-Qaida operatives
took place from the early 1990s to the present.

These statements were based on clandestine intelligence and press reporting, which the CIA
provided to the Committee. Inaddition to the meetings noted in the assessment, the CIA
also provided additional reporting on several other meetings between Iragi and a-Qaida officias
during the same period. The CIA assessed these reports of additional meetings asless credible in
Iragi Support for Terrorism.

(@ Contacts between Irag and a-Qaidawere an important factor in determining whether
Irag would have cooperated, assisted, or directed al-Qaidain any terrorist operation against U.S.
interests. However, the intelligence reporting used to create the finished papers often came from
foreign government services whose reliability was questioned by the CIA. For instance, some of
the contacts between the Iragi regime and al-Qaida were reported to the CIA by foreign
government services or groups opposed to the Iragi government. The raw intelligence
reporting from the CIA detailed the questionable nature of reporting by countries or groups that
clearly opposed the Iragi regime.

(@ For example, thefirst three of the meetings cited in Iragi Support for Terrorism
came from one raw intelligence report and are listed below with the source of the reporting noted
in bold and in brackets:




S —

(@ The January 2003 version of Iragi Support for Terrorism did not includethe
sourcesin the bracketed, bold text. The September 2002 version of Iragi Support for
Terrorism, with alimited distribution, did, however, include information about the
reporting from aforeign government service. Therefore, the reader of the January 2003
version did not know that the source of this information came from a government that
could have been trying to influence the U.S. Government.

A direct meetingis explained in Iraqi Support for Terrorismas.
“Hijazi joined the 1S chief on avisit to Khartoumin 1995, according to
reporting.”

The raw report does not include information specifically
about a direct meeting, but explains,




e —

Information on another direct meeting came from an Italian newspaper
article that was trangdlated by the CIA as:

Saddam Husayn and Usama bin Ladin have sealed a pact. Faruk Hidjazi,
the former Director of the Iragi Secret Services and now the country's
Ambassador to Turkey, held a secret meeting with the extremist leader on
21 December.

The article contains direct quotes from Faruk Hijazi, but does not specify the source of
the information. Iraqi Support for Terrorism stated this information as*'[a] press report
from 1998 alleges Hijazi [Faruk Hidjazi in the article] visited Sudan to meet bin Ladin as
early as June 1994”

() ' nformation on two other direct meetings comesfrom an FBI
interroaation of Wali Khan, an al-Qaidaassociate. E

Abu Hajir, himself, was subsequently taken into custody and Iraqi Support
for Terrorism stated, *'in his debriefings, Abu Hajir has not yet claimed any past or
continuing tiesto Iragi intelligence or mentioned returning to Irag since he left in the late
1980s and repudiated his Iraqgi citizenship.” When asked about follow-up on this

intelligence, the CIA answered, "' The only reporting we have linking Abu Hajir to Iraq
comesfrom Wali .

The intelligence cited in Iraqi Support for Terrorism of “at least -
direct meetings” was based on raw reports from foreign sources, an FBI interview
and an Italian news article.
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A DIA analyst described collection on contactsas:

The CIA discussed these meetingsas possible contacts betweenthe Iragi regime and al-Qaida
and did not draw any further conclusionsattempting to characterizethe content of the meetings.

N. Training of al-Qaida by Iraq

(U) lragi Support for Terrorism contained the following summary judgments regarding
Irag's provision of trainingto a-Qaida:

Regarding the Irag—al-Qd&lida rel ationship, reporting from sources of varying
reliability pointsto . . . incidentsof training. . . .

The most disturbing aspect of the relationshipis the dozen or so reports of varying
reliability mentioning the involvement of Iraq or Iragi nationalsin al-Qaida's
effortsto obtain CBW training.

Asinthe case of contacts between Iraq and al-Qaida, the intelligence reporting
on trainingaso was of varying reliability and contradictory. Concern over the reliability of
sourceswas also reflected in DCI’s September 17,2002, testimony to the Committee:

Thereisevidencethat Irag provided al-Qaidawith various kinds of training—

combat, bomb-making, and [chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear]

CBRN. Although Saddam did not endorse al-Qaida's overall agendaand was

suspiciousof Islamist movementsin general, he was apparently not averse, under

certain circumstances, to enhancing bin Ladin’s operational capabilities. Aswith

much of theinformationon the overall relationship, detailson training are | Il
from sourcesof varying reliability.

(U) The DCI subsequently testified about Iragi training of al-Qaidain an open hearing
before the Committee on February 11,2003:
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Iraq has in the past provided training in document forgery and bomb-makingto al-
Qaida. It hasalso provided training in poisons and gasesto two a-Qaida
associates. One of these associates characterized the relationship he forged with
Iragi officials as successful.

The DCI's unclassified, February 2003 testimony addressed **training in poisons
and gases” which ™ comesto usfrom credible and reliable sources.” The DCI's classified,
September 2002 testimony addressed ** evidence that Iraq provided al-Qaida with various kinds of
training' of which "' detailson training are from sources of varying reliability."
The DCI's unclassified testimony did not include source descriptions, which could have led the
recipients of that testimony to interpret that the CIA believed the training had definitely occurred.

Dueto concern over al-Qaida’s interest in WMD, the CIA assessmentsin Iragi
Support for Terrorism concentrated on the intelligence reports regarding possible Iragi assistance
to al-Qaida's chemical and biological weapons (CBW) programs. Reporting on Irag's potential
CBW training of a-Qaidacame from three sources:

- Detainee NG

. A dozen additional reportsfrom varying sources, and
. reporting about activity at the Salman Pak training facility.

d 1. I

In the September 2002 limited-distribution version of Iraqgi Support for
Terrorism, the CIA assessed, " The general pattern that emergesis of a-Qalidas enduring
interest in acquiring chemical, biological, radiological and nuclear (CBRN) expertise from Iraq.”
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2. Additional Reportsfrom Varying Sources

Twelve reports received |G o sources that the
CIA described as having varying reliability, cited Irag or Iragi national involvement in al-Qaida's
CBW efforts. The CIA noted that most of these reports involved discussions of offers or plans
for training. The reports did not state whether any of the training initiatives had been
implemented. Iragi Support for Terrorism also noted, *in about half of the reports, we cannot
determine if the Iragi nationals mentioned had any relationship with the Baghdad government or
were expatriate or free-lance scientists or engineers.” Additionaly, Iragi Support for Terrorism
noted, two of the reports appeared to have been based on hearsay and four of the reports were
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simple declarative accusationswith no substanceor detail to help corroborate them. The CIA
explained these inconsistenciesin the discussionof the reporting.

@ 3 Reportingabout Activity at Salman Pak

() The Saman Pak facility outside Baghdad was an unconventional warfare
training facility used by the IS and Saddam Hussein’s Fedayeen troopsto train its officersfor
counterterrorism operationsagainst regime opponents. The facility contained a villagemockup
for urban combat training and aderelict commercia aircraft. Iragi Supportfor Terrorism
explained that uncorroborated reportssince 1999 have alleged **that Baghdad has sponsored a
variety of conventional and mostly rudimentary instructionfor al-Qa’ida at the Salman Pak
Unconventional Warfare Training Facility outside Baghdad.” The reports came
from that ""training at this camp includes
paramilitary exercises, such as running long distancesdaily and self-defensetactics.” Iraqi
Supportfor Terrorism also stated, **these reports are part of alarger body of reporting over the
past decadethat ties Salman Pak to Iragi surrogate groups.” The Committeewas not provided
with reports that showed that Irag trained Pal estinian extremist groups and other Arabs of various
nationalitiesat the Salman Pak facility for potential surrogate terror operations. However, a
senior CIA analysts stated *We had [sources] talking about Salman Pak and training at Salman
Pak and funding for Palestinian groups.” The CIA did not rule out the possibility that Irag
trained known al-Qaida operatives or could havetrained an Arab a-Qaida member without
having knowledgethat the terrorist was an al-Qaida member.

InIragi Support for Terrorism, the CIA provided additional explanation of the
sourcesof theinformation, noting that, ** press and |l reporting about al-Qalida activity at
Salman Pak surged after 11 September.” The CIA
determined, “that at least one defectorf], whose story appeared in Vanity Fair magazine,
had embellished and exaggerated hisaccess.”” Additionally,  other sourcesonly repeated
information provided by the defector, and also lacked first-hand access to the information.
Committee staff asked both CIA and DIA analystswhether any al-Qaidaoperatives or other
sources have confirmed Salman Pak training allegations, and the unanimous response was that
none have reported knowledge of any training. A DIA anayst told Committee staff, " The Iragi
National Congress(INC) has been pushing information for along time about Salman Pak and
training of al-Qa’ida.”
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0. TheUseof Iraq asa Safehaven

(U)Iragi Support for Terrorism contained the following summary statementsregarding
Irag's provision of safehaven (The CIA used the term " providing safehaven' to describe both
active assistance and passive acquiescenceto the presence of a-Qaidain Irag) to terrorist groups,
in general, and al-Qaida specifically:

Irag continues to be a safehaven, transit point, or operational node for groups and
individualswho direct violence against the United States. . . .

Regarding the Irag—al-Qaidarel ationship, reporting from sourcesof varying
reliability pointsto. .. discussionsof Iragi safehaven for Usama bin Ladin dating
fromtheearly 1990s. . ..

We assessthat 100 to 200 al-Qaidamembers and associateshave rel ocated to
Kurdish-controlled northeasternIrag. . . .

A variety of reporting indicates that senior a-Qaidaterrorist planner a-Zargawi
wasin Baghdad between May-July 2002 under an assumed identity.

(U) The CIA did not assert in any of its assessmentsthat Iraq had committed to aformal
arrangement permitting al-Qaidamembersto transit and live within Irag. Instead, the CIA
considered the intelligencereporting on discussionsabout safehaven between Irag and a-Qaida
and on the presence of individualsthe CIA assessed to be a-Qaidamembersor associatesin Iraq.
The CIA assessed that Iraq was™ aware of the general nature and scope of the activity taking
placethere[inIrag].”

(U) The CIA based its assessment regarding Irag's provision of safehavento a-Qaidaon
thefollowinginformationand presumptions:

. Intelligence reports on discussionsbetween Iraq and a-Qaidaregarding
safehaven,
. Iragi regime's likely knowledge of a-Qaida presencein northeastern Irag; and
. Presence of al-Qaidaassociate Abu Musab al-Zargawi in Baghdad in the summer
of 2002, and
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1. Discussions of Safehaven

Iraqi Support for Terrorism noted generaly, ""A variety of reporting
indicatesthat senior al-Qaidaleadersand Iragi officials have discussed safehavenin Irag.” The
intelligencereporting provided by the CIA in support of this assessment was primarily
intelligence reports and press reports on discussions between the two groups.

CTC operational summary from April 13, 1999, notes four other intelligencereports mentioning
Saddam Hussein’s standing offer of safehaven to Usama bin Ladin.*’

7 The last report included in the CTC summary was a
HUMINT report on an
offer of safehaven from Saddam Hussein | . According to a press report from the
Italian Milan Corriere Della Sera dated September 17, 1998, an Iragi delegationto the Sudan
agreed to accept Usama bin Ladin should he no longer be permitted to stay in Afghanistan.
Another pressreport from the Paris Arabic newspaper Al-Watan Al-'Arabi dated January 1,
1999, stated that an Iragi delegation visited Usamabin Ladin in the summer of 1998 and *'bin
Ladin tried to feel the Iraqi official's pulse about the possibility of being received in Baghdad™
should he be expelled from Afghanistan. According to this pressreport, however, the Iragi




?

envoy was not authorized to offer safehaven to bin Ladin and instead returned the discussion to
the possibility of cooperation.*

2. Iragi Regime Knowledge of al-Qaida Presencein Northeasterniraq
(I | /-aqi Support for Terrorism, the CIA noted:

intelligence and reporting confirm that al-Qaida fighters began to
relocate to Kurdish-controlled northeastern Iraq after the Afghanistan campaign

began in thefall of 2001, hosted in an area controlled by a local Kurdish extremist
group, Ansar a-lslam.

in the Kurdish-controlled regions of northeastern Iraq.

Additionally, the CIA also cited two HUMINT reportsE

hich provided the CIA with understanding into al-Qaida activities in the
region.

() Regarding the Iragi regime's likely knowledge of the al-Qaida presencein
northeastern Irag, in Iragi Support to Terrorism, the CIA noted,

Baghdad probably has a window into al-Qaida activities

as identified as an IIS associate by [Jifidetainces |




The CIA also stated, “Baghdad reportedly has had contacts with Al,
” Nevertheless, the CIA judged that,
given the various reports which indicated Iragi intelligence operatives were active in the
northeast as well asthe rest of the country, "'it would be difficult for al-Qaida to maintain an
active, long-term presence in Irag without alerting the authorities or obtaining their
acquiescence.”

3. Abu Musab al-Zargawi in Baghdad

dI ' rag Support for Terrorism, the CIA noted:

A variety of reporting indicates that senior a-Qaida terrorist planner al-Zargawi

was in Baghdad [ /. foreign

government service asserted that the I1S knew where al-Zargawi was located
despite Baghdad's claimsthat it could not find him.

now working closely with al-Qaida, were also in Baghdad in the summer of
2002. The CIA also provided the Committee with a finished analytic product ||| | GTGczNzNzN

, which discussed their support of al-
Zargawi's network from Baghdad during that period.
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Asindicated in Iragi Supportfor Terrorism, the Iragi regime was, at
aminimum, aware of al-Zarqawi’s presence in Baghdad in 2002 because a foreign government
service passed information regarding his whereabouts to Iraqgi authorities in June 2002.
Despite Irag's pervasive security apparatus and its receipt of detailed information about al-
Zarqawi’s possible location, however, Iragi Intelligence told the foreign government service it

could not locate al-Zarqawi.

al-Zargawi and his network were operating both in Baghdad and in the Kurdish-controlled region
of Irag. The HUMINT reporting indicated that the Iragi regime certainly knew that al-Zargawi

was in Baghdad because aforeign government service gave that information to Iraq. Though the
intelligence reports established the presence of al-Zaraawi in Baghdad during; 2002 and the

activities of his network in other areas of Iraq during 2002 and 2003 || | |EGEGzGzGzGzGEEEE

P. Operational Cooperation Between Irag and al-Qaida

(V) Iraqi Supportfor Terrorism contained the following summary regarding operational
cooperation between Iraq and a-Qaida:

We have no credible information that Baghdad had foreknowledge of the 11

September attacks or any other al-Qaida strike, but we continue to pursue all

leads. We also are assessing Baghdad's possible role in the current al-Qaida
related activity in Irag.

The CIA expressed concern in its assessments regarding the grave threat posed to U.S. security
by operational cooperation between Iraq and al-Qaida. Due to limited reporting on the subject,
however, the CIA refrained from asserting that the Iragi regime and al-Qaida were cooperating
on terrorist operations. DCI Tenet, in histestimony before the Committee, summarized the
intelligence reporting on Iragi-al-Qaida operational cooperation stating, ** These sources do not
describe Iragi complicity in, control over, or authorization of specific terrorist attacks carried out

by d-Qaida.”
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Asthe DCI’s statement indicated, the CIA did not have credibleintelligence

reporting which suggested Iraq had operational control over al-Qaida. The CIA had no |

crediblereporting on the leadership of either the Iragi regime or al-Qaida, which
would have enabled it to better define a cooperative relationship, if any did infact exist. Asa
result, the CIA refrained from assertingthat Iraq and a-Qaidahad cooperated on terrorist attacks.
Instead, in Iraqi Supportfor Terrorism, the CIA judged, "a-Qaida, including Bin Ladin
personally, and Saddam were |eery of close cooperation,” but that the "mutual antipathy of the
two would not prevent tactical, limited cooperation.”

(U) The CIA did provide assessmentson certain instances in which the Iragi regime and
al-Qaidawere alleged to have cooperated in terrorist attacks including:

a The 1993 World Trade Center bombing,

. The September 11" attacks, and
. The Foley assassination.

Although there are provocative elementsin each instance, the CIA analystsalso identified
information that cast doubt on operational cooperation between Iraq and al-Qaidain these
terrorist attacks.

1. 1993 World Trade Center Bombing

(U) In both I ragi Supportfor Terrorism and Iraq and al-Qaida: Interpretinga Murky
Relationship, the CIA reviewed the possibleinvolvement by Irag in the 1993 World Trade Center
bombing. The alleged involvement was based upon three connectionsto Iraq that surfaced
during the investigation of individualsinvolved in the attack. First, Ramzi Y ousef, the leader of
the attack, entered the U.S. on a phony Iragi passport and fled the U.S. with Kuwaiti
documentation that Iraq may have been ableto providefollowing its 1990-91 occupation of that
country. The CIA found that stolen Iragi passportswere common at thistime, however, and
there was no indication that Iraq had used Kuwaiti documentation in any other intelligence
operation. Second, Abdul Rahman Y asin, afugitivefrom the attack, is of Iragi descent, and in
1993, hefled to Irag with Iragi assistance. Iraq held Yasinin custody sincethat time, explaining
that it feared the U.S. would misrepresent Y asin's role in the attack to implicate Iraq. The CIA
has not provided any additional informationto the Committee regarding Yasin or his
involvement in this attack, and his whereabouts currently are unknown by the CIA. Third,
convicted bomber Mohammed Salameh, had a maternal uncle who held a post in Palestinian
Authority leader Y assir Arafat's Fatah organization whileit had officesin Irag. Irag allowed
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Salameh's Palestinian uncle to emigrate to the West Bank in 1995, however, something the CTC
anaystsjudged the regime would not have been expected to do if he had been involved in the
1993 World Trade Center attacks.

2. The September 11th Attacks

Two alleged Iragi connectionsto the September 11,2001, attacks were
reviewed in al the analytical products concerning Irag's linksto terrorism and al-Qaida. The
first connection to the attack involved Ahmed Hikmat Shakir, an Iragi national, who facilitated
thetravel of one of the September 11 hijackersto Malaysiain January 2000. | EEEGN
N, . oreign
government service reported that Shakir worked for four months as an airport facilitator in Kuala
Lumpur at the end of 1999 and beginning of 2000. Shakir claimed he got thisjob through Ra'ad
al-Mudaris, an Iragi Embassy employee.*

Another source claimed that al-Mudaris was aformer 1S officer.” The
CIA judged inlraqi Support for Terrorism, however, that al-Mudaris’

that the circumstances surrounding the hiring of Shakir for
this position did not suggest it was done on behalf of theIS.

(U) The CIA’s reluctanceto draw a conclusion with regard to Shakir was reasonable
based on the limited intelligence available and the analysts' familiarity with the IIS.

The second alleged Iragi connection to the September 11 attacks was the widely-
publicized report from the Czech government to the U.S. that meetingstook place between
September 11 hijacker Muhammed Attaand the IS chief in Prague, Ahmed Khalil | brahim
Samir a-Ani. The CIA judged that other evidence indicated that these meetingslikely never
occurred. Accordingto Iraqi Support for Terrorism, " variousreports put Attain Prague i}

between late 1994 and the spring of 2001.” |
]

The
CIA has provided the Committee no further information that Atta met with IIS officials ||l
I
i I
" b I
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()
. Photographs of the alleged October 1999 meeting

wereinitially thought to be of Atta and al-Ani, but subseguent photo analysis by the CIA was
inconclusive. Moreover, information and press interviews Of Atta’s
family show that he wasin Egypt visiting hisfamily during this period in October 1999.

Committee staff also interviewed FBI
analysts regarding these alleged meetings, and the analysts stated that they agreed with the CIA
assessment and had no further information suggesting or disproving that the meetings had taken
place.

3. TheFoley Assassination

The CIA also looked into the possibility that the Iragi regime was
involved in the al-Zaraawi network murder of USAID official Laurence Folevin Amman. Jordan
i oo I ;.
suspects in the Foley murder, indicated that Iraqgi territory may have been used to facilitate travel
and the supply weapons to the al-Zargawi group in Jordan. But, neither of the two suspects
provided any information on links between al-Zargawi and the Iragi regime.

one of the two suspects in the Foley murder stated that al-Zargawi

directed and financed the operations of the cell before, during, and after his stint in Baghdad
between May and July 2002. The other suspect mentioned that weapons for their operationsin
Jordan had come from an unspecified place in Irag.
an associate of Foley’s killer left Jordan to join al-Zargawi in Iraq after the murder
to obtain weapons and explosives for future operations. Both of the suspects
mentioned that one member of the al-Zargawi network traveled repeatedly between

regime-controlled Irag and Syriaafter March 2002.




The intelligence reporting on the Foley assassinationavailable at the time of
the January 2003 publication of Iragi Supportfor Terrorism does not indicate Iragi government
complicity inthisattack. A later intelligence report received on February 11,2003, from a
source

The CIA has not provided the Committee with any
further information on whether the Iragi regime was directly involved in this assassination.

Q. lrag'sUseof Terrorist Strikesin the Event of War with the United States
(U) The CIA assessed that:
If Saddam Hussein concludes that a US attack to destroy hisregimeisinevitable
and imminent, heis likely to feel less constrained in hisuse of terrorism. At that
point he could turn to hisown intelligence services, Pal estinian surrogates, or al-
Qa’ida to attack US interests.
The most potentially lethal option would be to couple Irag's biological weapons capacity
with an effort by hisintelligence services, his Palestinian surrogates, or perhaps a-Qaida
to disseminate agents.

Based upon these assessments, the CIA determined the foll owing possible outcomes:

. Saddam could useany or all of three major terrorist™ optionsto strikethe
United States. . . .

. Saddam is most likely to usethell1Sin any planned terrorist attack . . . .

. Saddam could turn to asmall number of operatives from his surrogate

groups—whether members of established groups or rogue Palestinians—to
undertake CBW operationsif the lIS[Iragi Intelligence Service] wereto
fail or he wanted plausible deniability . . . .

. Saddam might decidethat only an organization such as a-Qaida—with its
worldwidereach, an extensiveterrorist infrastructure, and which is already

- I

**The Iragi Intelligence Service, Palestinian surrogates, or d-Qada
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engaged in alife-and-death struggle with America-could meet his
requirements for anti-US terrorism.

(U) No specific intelligence reports were provided by the CIA to support these
conclusions. Because the CIA had no contemporaneous reporting upon which to base its
assessment, analysts relied upon analytical judgement, and the citation the CIA provided was
"background & analysis." The CIA provided this explanation for the citation: **[background and
analysis] is used as a source description when a specific judgment or analysisis based on alarge,
varied, and mostly historical body of reporting. It isusually widely known information.” A
senior CTC collections officer commented during interview that:

We had one gap that we were struggling with. That was more the broader
strategic plans of Saddam Hussein in terms of the use of WMD as aterrorist
weapon. We were very concerned about it, but we did not have much

reporting . . . . We ended up having to do more reasoned logic in terms of working
through the scenarios to make judgements about if he would turn that over to
terrorist groups, when he would turn it over to terrorist groups, and then how they
might useit.

The CIA included an explanation of the lack of information on Saddam
Hussein's intentions in the Scope Note of Iraqi Support for Terrorism:

Our access to Saddam’s intelligence services—the organizers of Baghdad's most
recent lethal operations—remains hampered

To reach these judgments, the CIA took into consideration:

. Saddam Hussein's past use of terrorism,
. The decision-making environment in Irag, and
. Irag's weapons capabilities.

1. Saddam Hussein's Past Use of Terrorism

(@) Asmentioned earlier in thisreport, Saddam Hussein had attempted to conduct
terrorist attacks during the 1991 Gulf War using his own intelligence operatives and Palestinian
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surrogates. In the earlier section of this report entitled Terrorist Activities Conducted by the IS,
the Committee staff referred to terrorist attempts in Manila and Jakarta that were conducted by
1S operatives. Inthe section entitled Support_for Renional Terrorist Groups, the Committee
staff referred to P operatives inan 2y iy d
car who were arrested by a foreign government. Moreover, current intelligence indicated that the
IIS continued to case targets for attacks in the event of war. The Deputy Director of the Office of
Terrorism Analysisin CTC commented that:

... when we started this we had a backdrop that was pretty solid on saying
Saddam iswilling to deal with bad guysand has been doing it for along time.
And he has an intelligence service that has targeted us in the past. We had some
information about support for Islamist groups connected with the Arab-1sragli
conflict. | think thisissignificant because| do believe there isaworthwhile
debate to have on the ideology of Saddam, but | would also say, coming at this
from an aggressiveterrorist perspective, we did have a baseline to tell usthat he
had tried to work on relationship with groups we would identify asIslamist. . . .

2. TheDecison-MakingEnvironmentin Iraq

The CIA aso based its assessment on the decision-making environment in Irag.
The CIA judged that Iraq would likely conduct attacks if Saddam Hussein felt war was imminent,
and noted that he would refrain from carrying out attacks until he felt his regime's existence was
threatened.

3. Irag's WeaponsCapabilities

The CIA analysts contemplated Iraq's weapons capabilities, and determined
whether or not any of them could be employed in terrorist strikes. One delivery systemin
particular, unmanned aerial vehicles (UAV's) appeared to have potential use in terrorist attacks.
In Iraqi Support for Terrorismthe CIA noted Irag's interest in UAV's, and speculated that they
could be used by terroriststo conduct attacks using CBW. The Committee reviewed the
supporting intelligence reports which indicated Iraq sought to procure and test UAV's, and that
the UAV s may have been intended for usein terrorist attacks. Thereis no specific information
indicating how Iraq planned to use UAV's, or whether the regime had considered using them to
conduct terrorist attacks. Nevertheless, CIA analysts pointed out that if Saddam Hussein
supplied UAVsto a-Qaidaor other terrorists, it would greatly enhance the terrorists
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capabilities. The UAV issue more comprehensively under the WMD section titled: Delivery
Systems: Unmanned Aerial Vehicles and Missiles.

R. Iragi Linksto Terrorism Conclusions

(U) Conclusion 90. The Central Intelligence Agency's assessment that Saddam Hussein
was most likely to use his own intelligence service operatives to conduct attacks was
reasonable, and turned out to be accurate.

(U) Conclusion 91. The Central Intelligence Agency's (CIA) assessment that Iraq had
maintai ned ties to several secular Palestinian terrorist groups and with the Mujahidin e-
Khalq was supported by theintelligence. The CIA was aso reasonablein judging that Iraq
appeared to have been reaching out to more effectiveterrorist groups, such as Hizballah
and Hamas, and might have intended to employ such surrogatesin the event of war.

(U) Conclusion 92. The Central Intelligence Agency's examination of contacts, training,
safehaven and operational cooperation as indicators of a possible Irag—-al-Qaida
relationship was a reasonabl e and objective approach to the question.
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(U) Conclusion 93. The Central Intelligence Agency reasonably assessed that there were
likely several instances of contacts between Iraq and al-Qaida throughout the 1990s, but
that these contacts did not add up to an established formal relationship.

Conclusion 94. The Central Intelligence Agency reasonably and objectively
assessed in Iragi Support for Terrorism that the most problematic area of contact between
Iraa and al-Qaidawere the reports of trainingin the use of non-conventional weapons,
specifically chemical and biological weapons.




(U) Conclusion 95. The Central Intelligence Agency's assessment on safehaven - that al-
Qaidaor associated operativeswere present in Baghdad and in northeastern Iraq in an
area under Kurdish control — was reasonable.

(U) Conclusion 96. The Central Intelligence Agency's assessment that to date there was no
evidence proving Iragi complicity or assistance in an al-Qaida attack was reasonable and
objective. No additional information has emerged to suggest otherwise.
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(U) Conclusion 97. TheCentral Intelligence Agency's judgment that Saddam Hussein, if
sufficiently desperate, might employ terrorists with a global reach — al-Qaida - to conduct
terrorist attacks in the event of war, was reasonable. No information has emerged thusfar
to suggest that Saddam did try to employ al-Qaida in conducting terrorist attacks.

(U) Conclusion 98. The Central Intelligence Agency's (CIA) assessmentson Irag's linksto
terrorism were widely disseminated, though an early version of a key CIA assessment was
disseminated only to alimited list of cabinet members and some subcabinet officialsin the
Administration.
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